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Tracing Changes and
Revealing Culture: A Study
of Shotgun Houses in the
East Wilson Historic
District, 1988-2019.

Monica Davis

Shotgun houses ("shotguns") are the
most widely acknowledged expressions of
African American architectural design in
the United States. They are New World
constructions, rooted in indigenous
African architectural and spatial traditions
and influenced by American Indian and
European building techniques (Vlach,
1975). The place of shotgun houses in
local and national social history justifies
proactive preservation efforts to save and
adapt the remaining shotgun houses in
cities across America. These indisputably
historic homes have important stories to
tell about the social, economic, political,
cultural, and demographic histories of
their particular local communities;
histories that would be lost, perhaps
irretrievably, if these last shotgun houses
are left to decay and disappear.
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A Message from the
Association President

B. Perry Morrison, Jr.

After more than nineteen
months, the COVID pandemic
continues. Just when we think
we are over it, another strain
appears. All of our lives have
been turned upside down. But,
we will endure. At this writing,
our fall meeting at Barton
College on Thursday, November
18, at 7 pm is still scheduled.
Our speaker will be Dr. Marcus Witcher of the
University of Arkansas, who was previously lined
up to speak in March 2020 at our meeting
cancelled at the very beginning of the pandemic.
I previously wrote about Dr. Witcher in the
Winter/Spring Newsletter of 2020, and if the
meeting is to take place, I’ll send out an update
via e-mail.

Our feature article in this issue is by UNC-G
graduate student, Monica Davis, who has been
doing terrific research on Wilson’s National
Register Historic District of shotgun houses. Not
only has she invested her intellectual capital, but
she has also purchased several of the structures
and has set about turning them into homes again.
Way to go, Monica!

Since moving to the area from Wilmington
several years ago, historians Margaret and Jim
Bailey have really put their incredible research
and writing skills to work in our area. They are
writing in this issue about a Civil War cannon
ball that was discovered in the Bloomery Swamp
area a number of years ago, and they have been
documenting the likely source of the cannon ball.
Of course, that also reminds us that munitions
were once manufactured here in Wilson County!

Let’s all stay safe and help each other
through this pandemic!
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Historic preservationists and local communities are adapting their existing stock
of shotgun houses as a form of revitalization and providing middle-income
housing opportunities. These historic architectural house forms are being
adapted into artist studios and affordable housing solutions.

In North Carolina, shotgun houses were the predominant house type in
numerous cities at the peak of the twentieth century. The largest and most intact
shotgun houses were found in the East Wilson Historic. The district was listed
on the National Register of Historic Places in 1988, and when listed, it was the
largest working-class neighborhood of African Americans in North Carolina.
There have been approximately 200 houses that have been demolished in the
East Wilson Historic District since 1988. Like many African American historic
districts, East Wilson has faced blighted housing, lack of economic development,
and economic decline.

Historic photo of shotgun houses on East Vance Street.

My research will reveal the changes within the shotgun houses' visual
character and the neighborhood's cultural heritage. In addition, it will shed light on
the systemic inequality, the disinvestment of low-income Black communities, and
the prevention of generational wealth through home-ownership opportunities. The
intent of these findings is not to criticize but to invoke conversation that will offer
awareness to stimulate change in East Wilson.

Continued on page 3
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The Saga of East Wilson's Shoteun Houses

In North Carolina, shotgun houses were the predominant house type in
numerous cities. The largest and most intact shotgun houses were found in the East
Wilson Historic District. The East Wilson Historic District was comprised of 1277
predominantly residential properties occupying 65 city blocks east of the Seaboard
System Railroad tracks in Wilson. The district is primarily composed of a
rectangular grid of streets and lines with houses built between 1890 and 1940 for
blacks who were primarily employed in Wilson's flourishing tobacco industry. The
dwellings illustrated a variety of traditional Southern house types; however,
shotgun houses were the most predominant architectural style.

East Wilson Historic District Architectural House Styles in 1988
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Shotgun House
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By the 1920s, the city of Wilson had grown into the nation's premier tobacco
market center. As the population expanded in the district, the shotgun house type
was erected in overwhelming numbers. Locally called the "end-way house," the
long narrow front gable form, typically one room wide and three rooms deep (15 x
30 feet). The shotgun house was ideally suited to the narrow urban parcel and
spread across the district in alarming numbers. Shotgun houses emerged in the
early 1920s and then increased. The 1922 Sanborn map depicts 331 shotgun
houses, thirty-one percent of the East Wilson's housing stock; no other house type
was so desired over such a long period. (Mattson, 1988)

(Continued on page 4)
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EAST WILSON HISTORIC DISTRICT

12 1 13

1913 Sanborn Map of East Wilson. 1922 Sanborn Map of East Wilson.

The research information analyzed the remaining 90 shotgun houses, 88
contributing, and two non-contributing in the East Wilson Historic District, and
reveals an in-depth look at the historic housing stock in East Wilson.

The author is a graduate student in historic preservation at UNC-G.

LINTHEAR

1948: In front of what building would the photographer have been standing? Posted by Steve
Brown in Wilson NC Movie Memories Facebook Group.
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Civil War Cannon Ball Unearthed
In Bloomery Swamp Area

James A. Bailey and Margaret B. Bailey

Bloomery Swamp, once identified as the Great Swamp, extended from southern
Nash County into northern Wilson County. The area derived its name, Bloomery
Swamp, from bloomeries, also known as foundries or forges, constructed to produce
iron products from iron ore mined in Bloomery Swamp near Toisnot Swamp. From
1863 to 1864, iron ore was mined and bloomeries were constructed in this area to manu-
facture iron products, including cannon balls for the Confederate Government. How-
ever, coal was needed to fire the bloomeries and after the war, coal became too costly to
continue operating the bloomeries in Bloomery Swamp.! Although Bloomery Swamp
bloomeries ceased in the mid-1800s, remnants of Bloomery Mill, one of the bloomery
sites, still exists in Old Fields Township about three miles south of the mining area.?
Also, in recent years cannon ball fragments and a cannon ball were discovered in the
Bloomery Swamp area.

One of those discoveries occurred when Russell James Thompson, a Nash Coun-
ty native, was harvesting a fall crop in the late 1970s.> He was contracted to harvest
soybeans on the Reece J. and Lizzie W. Williams farm located in Jackson Township on
Old Bailey Road near the Wilson County line. Thompson was operating a four-row
Gleaner Model G combine late one November afternoon when a loud noise came from
the combine resulting in it coming to a sudden stop. Upon inspection, he discovered
the combine had unearthed a cannon ball which caused significant damage to the com-
bine. The cannon ball soon became and remained a topic of conversation. The location
of the cannon ball was in a field on the westside of Old Bailey Road approximately sev-
en tenths of a mile north of West Hornes Church Road. Today, Jerome and Diane Vick,
Nash and Wilson County agribusiness leaders, own the Williams track of land.

Continued on page 6
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Cannon Ball Continued from page 5

In May 2021, the authors examined the cannon ball that Thompson found. It was
a hollow spherical iron ball with a hole to accommodate a fuse plug. Due to oxidation
the outer and inner surfaces had a reddish brown coloration; however, there were no
identification markings on the cannon ball. The wall thickness of the cannon ball was
approximately 0.725 inches and the fuse plug opening measured about 0.900 inches. The
cavity diameter was approximately 2.890 inches and the cannon ball was approximately
4.375 inches in diameter. It weighed roughly seven pounds. The volume of the cavity
was approximately 285 cubic cm; therefore, the cannon ball would have held about nine
ounces of black powder.

Civil War cannon sizes were described according to the ball weight the cannons
fired. For example, a 12-pounder fired a 12-pound solid iron cannon ball. The bore
diameter of a 12-pounder was 4.620 inches. Therefore, the 4.375 inches diameter cannon
ball Thompson found would fit a 12-pounder cannon bore. In this case, if the cannon ball
Thompson found had been manufactured of solid iron, based on the diameter of the can-
non ball, it would have weighed approximately twelve pounds. Thus, it would be de-
scribed as a 12-pounder cannon ball. Twelve-pounder smooth bore Napoleon cannons
and Howitzers were used by both the Union and Confederate armies and could have
chambered this type of cannon ball.>*

When an iron cannon ball was poured, typically, there were seams on the ball
from the mold. However, there were no visible casting seams on the exterior of the can-
non ball. Perhaps the seams in this case were filed off as part of the finished cannon ball
or the seams were obscured by the oxidized surface.”

Similar cannon balls of this type took a wooden fuse plug. To make the wooden
fuse plug, a wooden dowel slightly conical in shape was made with a hole drilled in the
center of the dowel. Then, a paper fuse or fuse made of rope fibers coated with an incen-
diary material was inserted in the fuse plug hole. After the cannon ball was filled with
black powder, the fuse plug was inserted into the cannon ball cavity.®

Cannon balls were made to be slightly less in diameter than the smooth bore of
cannon barrels from which they were fired. But, even when fired from a slightly larger,
smooth bore cannon barrel, due to contact with the barrel as it passed down the barrel,
the cannon ball would have had some linear striations on the surface of the ball. Howev-
er, no evidence was found on the cannon ball to indicate it had ever been fired from a
cannon. While the origin of this cannon ball remains a mystery, due to the proximity of
the cannon ball’s discovery in the Hornes Church’s area, near Toisnot Swamp, it could
have been manufactured at the Old Fields Bloomery Mill.

Historically, iron ore was mined in the Bloomery Swamp area and bloomeries
were located near mining sites. The ore mined from Bloomery Swamp consisted of a rel-
atively high percentage of quality metallic iron ore and was used to manufacture iron
products including cannon balls. While the exact location of all the Civil War era bloom-
eries in the area is unknown, remnants of Bloomery Mill are located in Wilson County

near Lamm Crossroad.>10
Continued on page 7
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Continued on page 8

|
Newsletter 7



Continued from page 7

The type of ore mined from Bloomery Swamp was limonite and was sometimes
referred to as bog ore."" An 1893 analysis of the iron ore on the edge of nearby Toisnot
Swamp was tested for the ore’s composition. The ore contained approximately 43%
metallic iron, 15% silica, 16% organic matter and water with traces of manganese, alu-
minum, magnesium, sulphur, phosphous and other elements.?

Bloomeries, sometimes referred to as Catalan forges, were used to produce the
pig iron from the Bloomery Swamp ore.’® These types of bloomeries were used in me-
dieval Spain to produce excellent quality iron by heating iron ore with charcoal. When
a glowing ball of iron was removed from the forge, it was hammered to help expel the
slag. In general, early bloomery construction designs were simple. Early bloomeries
had a chimney or stack made out of clay or bricks with pipes for oxygen inlets at the
base. A mixure of roasted ore mixed with coal or charcoal filled the stack and was ig-
nited at the top of the chimney or stack. As the mixture burned the carbon monoxide
gas from the charcoal, the heat produced a mass of iron and slag, termed a bloom. By
1860, iron manufacturing technology had improved and in general, puddler furnaces
were commonly used. This type of furnace was more advanced than the Catalan forge.
It had a fire-proof brick chamber and chimney for smelting the ore. The molton iron
was mixed in the puddler furnace and impurities were expelled yielding a higher
grade of iron.™

In 1951, Missouri High Ferrell, a ninety-one-year-old Town of Bailey resident
whose husband, John W. Ferrell, was one of the heirs to an iron ore mine, recalled visit-
ing a bloomery as a child. The property where the iron ore was first mined was owned
by Thomas Horn in 1779.1> Later, before 1860, John Matthews purchased the land and
was owner when the war began. At that time, William H. Tappey and W. C. Lumsden,
experienced foundry operators from Petersburg, Virginia, were contracted to manufac-
ture cannon balls for the Confederacy and reopened the iron mine. During this period,
bloomeries were constructed at or near the mining sites. Ferrell recalled the bloomery
she saw as a child had a foundry with a brick chimney about forty feet tall. She re-
membered since coal could not be obtained from the North, large harwood trees were
timbered, burned and reduced to charcoal which was used in the smelting process to
make cannon balls.’

Initially, in the mid 1860s, iron ingots and cannon balls were shipped to Rich-
mond; however, by the end of the war, a large supply of cannon balls remained at a
bloomery in Bloomery Swamp. Although Mrs. Ferrell was a child, she remembered
that to prevent them from falling into enemy hands, the cannon balls were buried. Fol-
lowing the war the bloomery closed. Afterwards, the large slag piles began to vanish
and eventually the brick chimney collapsed. In the early 1900s, farmers begain grow-
ing tobacco and needed bricks to build tobacco barn furnaces. So, they purchased piles
of bricks that had previously been used to construct the bloomery chimney. Since the
chimney bricks were repurposed and in the absence of waste slag piles, today the exact
location of the bloomery Mors. Ferrell described is unknown.'” Additionally, no maps

Continued on page 9
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Continued from page 8

have been located that identify the precise iron production site.

In conclusion, circumstancial evidence supports the claim that the cannon ball
Thompson found was manufactured locally for the Confederacy. There are three rea-
sons for this supposition. First, the vicinity where the cannon ball was discovered was
in the same general area where iron ore was mined in Bloomery Swamp and where
numerous articles report the existence of a bloomery. Second, the size of the cannon
ball is more consistent with Confederate artillery compared to the larger artillery used
by Union forces. Finally, Bailey resident, Missouri Ferrell, recalled cannon balls in the
bloomery inventory were buried before the close of the war to prevent the inventory
from being seized by the Union Army. Consequently, the cannon ball Thompson
found most likely was manufactured from local bog iron ore at the Mill Bloomery or
one of the bloomeries in Bloomery Swamp sometime prior to the end of the Civil
War.18-20
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SAVE THE DATE
Wilson County Historical Association Fall Meeting

Marcus Witcher, Ph.D., a professor of history at the
University of Arkansas, will give the BB&T Lecture in
American History at 7:00 pm on Thursday, November
18, 2021 in the Ragan Center at Barton College. His
topic will be related to Ronald Reagan and the end of
the Cold War.

Wilson County Historical Association
P.O. Box 2046
Wilson, NC 27894-2046
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